STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Orangeburg County

Honorable Edgar W. Dickson, Circuit Court Judge

RECEIVED

Dec 23 2020

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

DARRIN ANTHONY HOUSER,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO 2019-001611

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

VICTOR R SEEGER
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL

Whether Appellant's statement given to police was involuntarily made where he initially refused to sign the Miranda rights waiver and only agreed sign the waiver after the interviewing officers prepared to leave and told him he would spend the rest of his life in prison if he did not talk to them, and where Appellant's subsequent statement was induced through threats and promises of leniency?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

During its December 2015 term, Orangeburg County Grand Jury indicted Appellant for burglary in the first degree. R. 460. During the August 2019 term, stemming from the same incident, the Orangeburg County Grand Jury indicted Appellant for attempted armed robbery and possession of a handgun by a person who committed a crime of violence. R. 463-467.

On September 9, 2019, Appellant proceeded to trial for murder, burglary in the first degree, attempted armed robbery, and possession of a handgun by a person who committed a crime of violence before the Honorable Edgar W. Dickson, and a jury¹. R. 1. Russel A. Blanchard and Charlie H. Williams III represented Appellant. Id. Thomas B. Scott III represented the state. Id.

Appellant was found guilty of burglary in the first degree, attempted armed robbery, and possession of a handgun by a person who committed a crime of violence. R. 450, l. 25 – 451, l. 13. Appellant was sentenced for twenty years' imprisonment for attempted armed robbery and burglary in the first degree. R. 454, l. 24 – 455, l. 25. Appellant was sentenced to five years' imprisonment for possession of a handgun by a person convicted of a crime of violence. Id.

This appeal follows.

¹ Appellant was also indicted for murder, but was found not guilty on that charge. R. 4, ll. 4 – 13; R. 451, l. 11 – 13.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

“On appeal, the conclusion of the trial judge on issues of fact as to the voluntariness of a confession will not be disturbed unless so manifestly erroneous as to show an abuse of discretion.” State v. Rochester, 301 S.C. 196, 200, 391 S.E.2d 244, 247 (1990); see also State v. Reed, 332 S.C. 35, 43, 503 S.E.2d 747, 751 (1998). Put another way, the reviewing court will reverse a trial judge’s ruling on the voluntariness of the confession when the ruling is “so erroneous as to constitute an abuse of discretion.” State v. Myers, 359 S.C. 40, 47, 596 S.E.2d 488, 492 (2004). “In criminal cases, appellate courts are bound by fact finding in response to preliminary motions where there has been conflicting testimony or where the findings are supported by the evidence and not clearly wrong or controlled by an error of law.” State v. Asbury, 328 S.C. 187, 193, 493 S.E.2d 349, 352 (1997).

ARGUMENT

Appellant's statement given to police was involuntarily made where he initially refused to sign the Miranda rights waiver and only agreed sign the waiver after the interviewing officers prepared to leave and told him he would spend the rest of his life in prison if he did not talk to them, and where Appellant's subsequent statement was induced through threats and promises of leniency.

Relevant Facts

On August 26, 2015, a shooting occurred at 122 Greta Lane in Orangeburg County. R. 129, ll. 16 – 22. Anthony Patterson, the decedent, sold drugs out of his trailer and on the night of the incident multiple assailants broke into his home and shot him multiple times. R. 190, l. 11 – 191, l. 4. Patterson was pronounced dead at the scene. R. 133, l. 24 – 136, l. 21.

During Appellant's trial, Michael Dennis, decedent's roommate, testified that Appellant arrived at the trailer to buy drugs from Patterson shortly before the incident. R. 149, l. 20 – 157, l. 19. Dennis stated that he let Appellant in the trailer because he recognized him from earlier times Appellant came over to buy drugs. Id. Dennis claimed that after Appellant entered the trailer he stopped Dennis from closing the door. Id. According to Dennis, at that moment multiple assailants barged into the still opened doorway and pinned him to the floor. Id. Dennis did not see any of their faces and could not identify the other men who entered the trailer. Id. Patterson came out of his bedroom and after a short altercation he was shot several times. Id.

The men fled the trailer without taking anything. Id. Appellant also fled the trailer in fear for his life. Id.; R. 289, ll. 17 – 22.

Appellant was interviewed within two days of the incident by Officer James Shumpert on August 28, 2015. R. 275, l. 11 – 294, l. 15. Appellant was found by law enforcement in Washington D.C., and Shumpert went there to conduct the first interview. R. 9, ll. 1 – 14.

Appellant was in custody during the interview and was suffering from withdrawal symptoms. R. 35, l. 3 – 6; R. 276, ll. 15 – 16. Appellant went to the trailer on the night of the incident to buy drugs. R. 282, ll. 3 – 11. In a pretrial Jackson v. Denno, 378 U.S. 368 (1964) hearing, Appellant testified he was “shaking and shivering pretty much the whole [interview],” he had a “splitting headache,” and stomach pains. R. 23, l. 23 – 34, l. 12. Appellant was having “difficulty with diarrhea” and lost sixteen pounds “in the last couple days” before the August 28 interview. R. 34, ll. 13 – 25.

Shumpert interviewed Appellant again on September 3, 2015, this time in Orangeburg. R. 16, ll. 1 – 23. Shumpert alleged that Appellant called his office to initiate the September 3 interview, but did not have any recollection or record of when Appellant allegedly called or with whom he spoke to set up the interview. R. 17, ll. 3 – 19; R. 37, ll. 9 – 17. Appellant denied calling to initiate the September 3 interview. R. 72, l. 18 – 73, l. 6.

The September 3 interview was recorded on video and Sergeant Stokes administered the Miranda v. Arizona, 384 U.S. 486 (1966) warning. R. 18, l. 6 – 19, l. 11. Appellant initialed and signed the Miranda rights warning but he did not initially sign the waiver of rights form. R. 19, ll. 12 – 18. Appellant only signed the waiver of rights form after Shumpert and Stokes ended the interview and Shumpert told Appellant he would spend the rest of his life in prison if he did not talk to the officers. R. 38, l. 13 – 40, l. 5.

Appellant testified during the Jackson v. Denno hearing as well. R. 64, l. 12. He explained the withdrawal symptoms he was suffering through during both interviews. R. 70, l. 12 – 71, l.

22. Appellant stated that he refused to sign the waiver of rights form but was under the impression that he could still talk to the officers. R. 66, ll. 12 – 25. Appellant’s mistaken belief that he could give a statement without signing the waiver of rights form evinced the fact that even after Stokes read him his Miranda rights, he did not understand what they meant. Id.

Appellant testified that Shumpert showed Appellant a photo of Shumpert’s dead daughter and promised Appellant on his daughter that he would help Appellant with his charges and sentencing if he gave a statement. R. 68, l. 15 – 69, l. 5. As a means to get Appellant to give a statement, Shumpert told Appellant a story about another case where the triggerman “ratted” his codefendants out and got a lenient sentence, insinuating that he could help Appellant with sentencing if Appellant cooperated. R. 42, l. 8 – 45, l. 8. It was only after those promises of leniency that Appellant then gave a written statement during the September 3 interview. R. 370, ll. 14 – 24. Appellant stated that he only gave the written statement because of Shumpert’s promises. R. 73, ll. 7 – 25.

Trial counsel argued that Appellant’s statement from September 3, 2015 was not voluntarily given. R. 81, l. 13 – 82, l. 5. Appellant was suffering clear “physical problems.” Id. Appellant did not understand his rights after they were read to him as shown by his belief that “there was a difference between talking to the officers versus waiving his rights and signing a statement.” Id. Furthermore, Shumpert made promises to Appellant and used stories of defendants cooperating and being rewarded with leniency to compel Appellant to give a statement involuntarily. Id.

Discussion

Appellant's statement to police on September 3, 2015 was made involuntarily because Officer Shumpert used a combination of threats and promises of leniency to improperly induce Appellant to make a statement about the incident at 122 Greta Lane in Orangeburg County. Shumpert promised Appellant "on his dead daughter" that he would help Appellant with his charges and sentencing if he cooperated, and when Appellant did not cooperate threatened Appellant with a life sentence if he did not cooperate. R. 20, l. 22 – 21, l. 5; R. 68, l. 15 – 69, l. 5. Those threats were sufficient to overbear Appellant's will and coerce him into making an involuntary statement.

Our Supreme Court held in State v. Washington, 296 S.C. 54, 370 S.E. 611 (1988), where voluntariness of a statement is at issue, the trial court must make an initial determination based upon preponderance of the evidence.

In State v. Osborne, 301 S.C. 363, 392 S.E.2d 178 (1990), Osborne gave eleven inculpatory statements to police that the Court determined were made involuntarily. Osborne was read her Miranda rights prior to every statement. Osborne, at 364 – 65, 392 S.E.2d 178 – 79. Prior to giving her statements, each of the interviewing officers in all eleven interviews told her that if she did not give a statement she could be prosecuted for withholding evidence. Id. at 365 – 66, 392 S.E.2d at 179. "Although many officers testified that Osborne was repeatedly advised of her rights and that she was not threatened or coerced," the Court held "In essence, Osborne was told... she could remain silent, but [if she remained silent], she could be charged with a crime. Id. at 366 – 67, 392 S.E.2d at 179 – 80. Accordingly, Osborne's statements were involuntarily given as they were a product of coercion. Id. at 367, 392 S.E.2d at 180.

In State v. Corns, 310 S.C. 546, 426 S.E.2d 324 (Ct. App. 1992) Corns was arrested and charged with, among other allegations, possession of marijuana with intent to distribute. Corns, at 548 – 49, 426 S.E.2d at 325 – 26. Approximately four days to a week after his arrest, Corns requested to speak with the investigating officers Detective Roper and Captain Fowler. Id. Corns was read his Miranda rights and “although Detective Roper testified that he did not threaten or intimidate Corn’s, he admitted that during the interview he told Corns his wife could be arrested and the Department of Social Services could take his children. Id. Corns then replied, “I’ll plead guilty to the marijuana, just don’t mess with my wife and kids.” Id.

This Court held that the officers “coerced Corns’s confession on the marijuana by means of veiled threats against his family.” Corns, at 552, 426 S.E.2d at 327. This Court further determined, “The testimony of the officers amounted to an exertion of improper influence rendering Corns’s statement involuntary.” Id.

In State v. Hook, 348 S.C. 401, 558 S.E.2d 856 (Ct. App. 2001), Hook was arrested for driving under the influence after he was involved in a car accident with Roger Smith of the Williston Police Department, while Smith was “operating a police department control car.” Id. at 406, 558 S.E.2d at 858. Hook and Smith sustained injuries, Hook had a ruptured spleen and required both narcotic and non-narcotic pain killers. Hook, at 406 – 07, 558 S.E.2d at 858 – 59. On the day after the incident Hook’s probation agent, Judy Brown, requested that he take a drug test, and a separate probation agent, Marshall Bunch, administered the test. Id. at 407, 558 S.E.2d at 858 – 59. Neither of the probation agents advised Hook of his Miranda rights. Id. Hook tested positive for cocaine and, according to the agents, then admitted to using cocaine on the night before the accident. Id.

This Court determined that probation Agent Brown went to the jail, in her capacity as a probation officer, for the purpose of determining whether Hook was in compliance with the terms of his probation sentence prohibiting drug use. Hook, at 413, 559 S.E.2d at 862. It was only after Hook denied using drugs, that Brown ordered a drug test. Id.

Probation Agent Bunch, who administered the drug test, also went to the jail in his capacity as a probation agent. Id. After administering the test, Bunch told Hook that a probationer must answer the questions posed to him by probation officers and that refusal to take the drug test would constitute a violation of his probation. Id.

This Court held, “Although there is no evidence the probation agents expressly threatened to revoke Hook's probationary sentence if he failed to answer their inquiries truthfully, the timing of the interview, the custodial atmosphere, and the other attendant circumstances *unquestionably raised the implication [that probation] revocation would result from any refusal to cooperate.*” Hook, at 414, 559 S.E.2d at 862. (emphasis added) Accordingly, Hook's statement to the probation agents, under the totality of circumstances, was a product of “coercion egregious enough to render any statement involuntary,” and thus inadmissible. Id.

Here, many of the factors present in Hook that caused his confession to be involuntary are present in this case as well. Id. Appellant was suffering from withdrawal symptoms at the time he gave the coerced statement. R. 23, l. 23 – 35, l. 6. Appellant initially denied to speak to the officers as did Hook where he initially denied using drugs before being coerced into giving a statement. Id.; Hook, at 413, 559 S.E.2d at 862. In this case, it was only after the officers told Appellant that he would “spend his life in prison” if he did not talk to them, that he acquiesced to their threats and gave the inculpatory statement. R. 38, l. 13 – 40, l. 5. Furthermore, even though the officers did not specifically guarantee Appellant that they could ensure he would go to prison

for the rest of his life if he did not speak to them, the veiled threat implying they could influence his sentencing if he did not cooperate was such that a reasonable person's will would be overborne. Corns, at 552, 426 S.E.2d at 327.

Furthermore, Shumpert also made promises of leniency if Appellant cooperated and misrepresentations about the strength of evidence they had against Appellant. R. 49, l. 17 – 19; R. 73, ll. 7 – 13. Specifically, Shumpert promised Appellant “on his dead daughter” that he would help Appellant get a more lenient sentence if Appellant gave a statement. R. 68, l. 15 – 69, l. 5. Hutto v. Ross, 429 U.S. 28, 30 (1976) (“The test is whether the confession was “ ‘extracted by any sort of threats or violence, (or) obtained by any direct or implied promises, *however slight*, (or) by the exertion of any improper influence.’”) (emphasis added) It was only after the promise of leniency in sentencing that Appellant gave his statement. State v. Peake, 291 S.C. 138, 139, 352 S.E.2d 487, 488 (1987) (“A statement induced by a promise of leniency is involuntary only if so connected with the inducement as to be a consequence of the promise.”)

In State v. Peake, 291 S.C. 138, 352 S.E.2d 487 (1986), Peake was convicted of murder and sentenced to life imprisonment. Peake, at 139, 352 S.E.2d at 488. The officers in that case questioned Peake and induced him to make an inculpatory statement by promising him leniency. Id. The investigating officer testified that he “made a suggestion to [Peake] that the State would not ask for the death penalty in this case and that [he] would call the Solicitor and have him put it in writing to that effect.” Id. at 139, 352 S.E.2d at 488. Directly after the officer's false promise, Peake made an inculpatory statement. Id. Our Supreme Court held that the officer's promise rendered Peake's statement involuntary as “the statement was connected with the inducement as to be a consequence of the promise.” Id.; citing State v. Broome, 268 S.C. 99, 232 S.E.2d 324 (1977).

Accordingly, the trial court erred when it admitted Appellant's statement because it was a product of coercion and promises of leniency by the interviewing officers such that it was involuntarily given, and thus inadmissible. State v. Rochester, 301 S.C. 196, 200, 391 S.E.2d 244, 246 (1990) citing Hutto v. Ross, 429 U.S. 28, 30 (1976); also citing State v. Peake, 291 S.C. 138, 352 S.E.2d 487 (1987).

CONCLUSION

By reason of the foregoing arguments, Appellant's convictions should be reversed, and this case remanded to the Beaufort County Court of General Sessions for a new trial.



Victor R Seeger
Appellate Defender

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT