**RECEIVED**

**Mar 03 2021**

**SC Court of Appeals**

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM ORANGEBURG COUNTY

Court of General Sessions  
The Honorable Edgar W. Dickson, Circuit Court Judge

---

Appellate Case No. 2019-001611

---

THE STATE,

Respondent,

v.

DARRIN ANTHONY HOUSER,

Appellant.

---

**AMENDED FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

---

ALAN WILSON  
Attorney General

JOSHUA A. EDWARDS  
Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549  
Columbia, SC 29211  
(803) 734-3727

DAVID M. PASCOE, JR.  
Solicitor, First Judicial Circuit

Post Office Box 1525  
Orangeburg, SC 29116  
(803) 533-6252

**ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT**

**

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

## ARGUMENT

**Houser's argument that the trial court erred by admitting his statement to police is not preserved for review because he did not object when the statement was entered at trial. Even if preserved, evidence supports the trial court's finding that Houser's statement was voluntary.**

Houser's argument that the trial court erred by admitting his September 3 statement to police is not preserved for review because he did not object when the statement was entered at trial. Even if preserved, Houser's argument fails because evidence supports the trial court's finding that Houser's statement to police was voluntary. Specifically, Houser admitted in his pretrial testimony that he understood his right to remain silent and "was willing to talk to [police]." This Court should affirm.

### **A. Issue Preservation.**

Houser's argument that the trial court erred by admitting his September 3 statement to police is not preserved for review because he did not object when the statement was entered at trial.<sup>1</sup> On the day before trial, on the initiative of the prosecutor, the trial court convened a hearing to determine the voluntariness of Houser's statements pursuant to Jackson v. Denno, 378 U.S. 368 (1964). The court heard testimony from both officers involved in taking Houser's statements, and Houser testified as well. At the conclusion of the testimony, the trial court ruled: "I

---

<sup>1</sup> Houser's brief alleges error in the admission the September 3 statement, but not his August 28 statement. Accordingly, even if this Court finds Houser has preserved his argument regarding the September 3 statement, this is the only argument the Court should consider. State v. Bray, 342 S.C. 23, 535 S.E.2d 636, 639 n.2 (2000) (explaining a reviewing court should not consider an issue that is not presented on appeal).

think it's pretty clear. I think he's made a voluntary statement." (R.p.82). Defense counsel responded by saying only: "Thank you, your honor." (R.p.82).

Trial began the next day. After opening statements, the court addressed a separate legal motion concerning the propriety of the weapons charge. The court asked defense counsel whether he had "[a]nything to add," and counsel responded that he did not. (R.p.35, line 14). Houser also failed to raise the issue at a later opportunity when the court was discussing the admissibility for impeachment purposes of Houser's prior convictions. (R.p.236–38). The State called seven witnesses before finally offering the testimony of Lt. Shumpert, the officer who interviewed Houser. Rather than play the entire video recordings of the interviews, the State used a transcript to refresh Shumpert's memory about Houser's specific statements. At no point did Houser object to the admission of his oral statements into evidence. (R.p.275–304). In fact, defense counsel even requested that the recordings be marked as Court's Exhibits Nos. 2 and 3. (R.p.239–40). Nor did Houser object when his written statement was offered into evidence. (R.p.370, 376). Houser specifically stated he had no objection to the introduction of the written statement and advisement of rights forms Houser signed before the interview. (R.p.376). Finally, on cross-examination, defense counsel elicited parts of Houser's statements from Lt. Shumpert. (R.p.326–27, 332–35).

“In order for an issue to be preserved for appellate review, it must have been raised to and ruled upon by the trial [court]. Issues not raised and ruled upon in the trial court will not be considered on appeal.” State v. Dunbar, 356 S.C. 138, 142,

587 S.E.2d 691, 693-94 (2003). An in limine ruling is not final and a contemporaneous objection is required to preserve an issue for appeal. State v. Wannamaker, 346 S.C. 495, 499, 552 S.S.2d 284, 286 (2001). A pre-trial ruling on the admissibility of evidence is preliminary, and is subject to change based on developments at trial. Id. Unless an objection is made at the time the evidence is offered and a final ruling made, the issue is not preserved for review. State v. Schumpert, 312 S.C. 502, 435 S.E.2d 859 (1993). The failure to object when evidence is offered constitutes a waiver of the right to raise the issue on appeal. State v. Simpson, 325 S.C. 37, 42, 479 S.E.2d 57, 60 (1996).

A full day and the testimony of seven witnesses separated the court's pretrial ruling from the introduction of the statements. Accordingly, this case does not fall within the exception to the preservation rule where testimony is presented "immediately" after a trial court's ruling on its admissibility. See State v. Tufts, 355 S.C. 493, 497, 585 S.E.2d 523, 525 (Ct. App. 2003). Given Houser's straightforward admission that he was "willing to talk" to the officers, understood his rights, and understood that his statement would be used against him, and the trial court's ruling that Houser's statement was "clearly" voluntary, defense counsel could have simply concluded the motion was meritless and not worth making. (R.p.67).

Alternatively, given the non-inculpatory nature of the statement, defense counsel may have concluded it helped Houser's case to admit his statement. Indeed, because Houser did not testify, the admission of his statement allowed him to put his version of events before the jury without having to take the stand. In either

case, this is not a case where the Court should disregard error preservation requirements and infer Houser's objection.

Because Houser did not object to the admission of his statements when offered into evidence at trial, his argument on appeal is not preserved for review. This Court should reject Houser's invitation to discard its well-established error preservation rules. This Court should affirm.

**B. Evidence supports the trial court's finding that Houser's statement was voluntary.**

Even if preserved, Houser's argument is meritless. Houser claims "Officer Shumpert used a combination of threats and promises of leniency to improperly induce Appellant to make a statement about the incident . . . ." Brief of Appellant at 6–7. Specifically, Houser claims Lt. Shumpert "showed Appellant a photo of Shumpert's dead daughter and promised Appellant on his daughter that he would help Appellant with his charges and sentencing if he gave a statement." Brief of Appellant at 6. Lt. Shumpert did no such thing, as the recording of the September 3 interview shows. Furthermore, Houser confuses the facts, mixing allegations and facts related to the September 3 statement and a third alleged statement officers testified never happened. His argument depends on this Court overturning the trial court's factual findings resolving this conflicting testimony and the credibility of the witnesses, in violation of the applicable abuse of discretion standard. It should be rejected. Most importantly, the record strongly supports the trial court's ruling that Houser's statement was made voluntarily. Under the abuse of discretion standard, this Court needn't go any further. This Court should affirm.

The test for determining the admissibility of a statement is whether it was knowingly, intelligently, and voluntarily given under the totality of the circumstances. State v. Peake, 291 S.C. 138, 139, 352 S.E.2d 487, 488 (1987). The State may not introduce a statement that was "induced by force, psychological or physical, or by direct or implied threats." State v. Rochester, 301 S.C. 196, 201, 391 S.E.2d 244, 247 (1990). Likewise, a statement may not be "induced by a promise of leniency." State v. Arrowood, 375 S.C. 359, 369, 652 S.E.2d 438, 443 (Ct. App. 2007). The pertinent inquiry is whether the defendant's will was "overborne." Id.

The video-recorded interview itself (which, remarkably, Houser did not designate for this Court's review) provides the best evidence of voluntariness. Not only does the recording show exactly what was said, it shows the demeanor of both Houser and Lt. Shumpert. It strongly supports the trial court's ruling.

The interview began with police advising Houser of his constitutional rights orally and in writing. Houser initialed a form next to the "advisement of rights" section, but, as in his first interview, refused to sign the "waiver of rights." (R.p.296; Court's Exhibit No. 2). Houser apparently thought that by signing the form he would permanently waive all of his constitutional rights, because he exclaimed he would "never" sign anything that waived his rights. (Court's Exhibit No. 2 around 0:30). Lt. Shumpert understood his confusion and tried to explain that he wasn't "waiving his rights forever," but Houser refused to sign the paper. Regardless, Houser acknowledged he understood his rights, that "no promises,

threats, or coercion have been used," and that no one was "twisting his arm" to make him talk. (Court's Exhibit No. 2 around 0:45).

After the advisement of rights, Houser began to tell the same version of events he told Lt. Shumpert in D.C., insisting he was telling the truth. Lt. Shumpert again indicated he did not believe him and started to terminate the interview, remarking to Stokes that Houser "[didn't have] anything to say." (Court's Exhibit No. 2 around 4:00). They left the room to take Houser back to jail, but Houser requested to continue talking and returned to the interview room. (R.p.296; Court's Exhibit No. 2 around 4:30). Lt. Shumpert testified that "[h]e had the opportunity to go back to jail, but he decided that he wanted to talk so he came back." (R.p.326).

Before resuming the interview, Lt. Shumpert decided to further explain to Houser that he did not have to speak with them, and went over the advisement of rights form again. Shumpert ensured Houser that no coercion would be used, and told him: "If you feel like you want to stop talking, you can stop anytime you feel like it." (Court's Exhibit No. 2 around 5:40). Houser asked whether the interview was being recorded, and Lt. Shumpert responded: "it is." (Court's Exhibit No. 2 around 6:00). Houser then paused for a moment and began telling officers what happened. Lt. Shumpert testified Houser appeared to understand everything that was happening. (R.p.296).

One event is conspicuously absent from the video: Lt. Shumpert's promise "'on his dead daughter' that he would help Appellant get a more lenient sentence if

Appellant gave a statement." Brief of Appellant at 10. In fact, Shumpert made no such promise at any point during the interview.

In his brief, Houser cites to page 73 of his pretrial testimony to support this claim. When asked about any promises made during the September 3 interview, Houser claimed Lt. Shumpert "reiterated about his daughter" and that he would "help him out." Houser omits a crucial facet of his testimony; on page 69 of the pretrial transcript, he claimed Shumpert made this purported promise at a **completely separate interview**, one that Shumpert testified never happened and that the State did not seek to admit at trial. Houser alleged Lt. Shumpert made the promise at the police station on August 2, "when [he] got back from D.C.," before he ever went to the Orangeburg jail. (R.p.69). He claimed Shumpert "went into his office and got a picture of his daughter and said, my daughter is deceased and I swear on my daughter that I will help you out." (R.p.69). Houser claimed he met with officers four times, instead of the two times testified to by Shumpert.

Houser's assertions that he met with officers four times instead of two, and that Lt. Shumpert made promises of leniency, directly conflict with Shumpert's testimony. Shumpert testified he met with Houser twice, and never made any promises of leniency. The State never sought to introduce any purported third statement. This direct conflict in testimony raised a question of witness credibility. Such questions are within the province of the trial court. "[T]he abuse of discretion standard of review does not allow [the appellate] court to reweigh the evidence or second-guess the trial court's assessment of witness credibility." State v. Douglas,

411 S.C. 307, 316, 768 S.E.2d 232, 238 (Ct. App. 2014). This is so because the circuit court is in a better position to assess the credibility of witnesses. Lollis v. Dutton, 421 S.C. 467, 478, 807 S.E.2d 723, 728 (Ct. App. 2017). Where “the evidence conflicts as to whether a defendant's statement is voluntary, it is, in the first instance, the province of the trial court to determine this factual issue by the preponderance of the evidence.” State v. Arrowood, 375 S.C. 359, 367, 652 S.E.2d 438, 442 (Ct. App. 2007).

In addition to being flatly denied by Shumpert at trial, Houser's assertions are highly suspect on their face. Lt. Shumpert is an experienced and skilled investigator. The recordings of the interviews show Shumpert knew how to conduct a proper interview without making promises of leniency. Shumpert testified that "sometimes the Court will give leniency to you. I can't give you leniency. I can't make [a] decision whether how much time you get or not. Never told him that." (R.p.334). This conflict in testimony was resolved by the trial court, and the record supports a finding that Houser's testimony was not credible, and that Shumpert never made the purported promise to "help him out."

Also absent from the recording of the interview is any threat against Houser, as Houser claims on page 9 of his brief. To support this claim, Houser cites page 38 of the pretrial transcript. In this portion of the transcript, defense counsel cross-examines Lt. Shumpert about what occurred during the interview. Defense counsel asked whether Shumpert "told Darrin Houser if that was all he had for you at the very beginning he could spend his life in jail and you didn't have anything else you

needed to talk to him. . . ." (R.p.38, lines 14–18). Shumpert responded that he "probably did say that." (R.p.38, line 22). Shumpert did not say this during the interview, as the recording shows. However, Shumpert admitted he made the comment as he was walking out of the interview room after terminating the interview. He described it as a comment that it would be "stupid" for Houser to spend his life in jail. (R.p.39, lines 3–6).

Houser analogizes this comment to egregious, explicit official threats, such as a threat to imprison a suspect's spouse, as in State v. Corns, 310 S.C. 546, 426 S.E.2d 324 (Ct.App.1992), or to prosecute the suspect for withholding evidence, as in State v. Osborne, 301 S.C. 363, 392 S.E.2d 178 (1990). But these cases are wildly different from this one. Shumpert did not threaten that police would to bring additional charges or seek more severe punishment against Houser or anyone else, or to take any other action. Shumpert's comment was not a threat; it was merely the officer's opinion that Houser was stupidly exposing himself to a lengthy prison sentence by relying on an unbelievable story at trial. The comment is similar to the one in State v. Rochester, 301 S.C. 196, 391 S.E.2d 244 (1990), where the Supreme Court found no error when a suspect was told it would be in his "best interest to tell the truth." Rochester, 301 S.C. at 199, 391 S.E.2d at 246. This isolated comment is a far cry from the type of coercive pressure forbidden by the Fourteenth Amendment. Cf. Arizona v. Fulminante, 499 U.S. 279, 286 (1991) (affirming trial court's finding on involuntariness where officer "offered to protect Fulminante [from

threatening, violent fellow inmates] in exchange for a confession" in face of "belief that the defendant's life was in jeopardy if he did not confess").

If the video isn't clear enough, Houser's pretrial testimony clears up any confusion. Houser explicitly admitted under oath that he understood "exactly" what his rights were when giving his statement, including the right to remain silent. (R.p.78, lines 21–23). He testified repeatedly that he "was willing to talk" to police. (R.p.76, lines 5–6). Houser even told Lt. Shumpert to ask "anything you want." (R.p.77). Houser demonstrated a calm and willing demeanor throughout the interview, and appeared to have a good rapport with investigators. (Court's Exhibit No. 2 around 34:30). These were not "circumstances calculated to break the strongest nerves and the stoutest resistance." Chambers v. State of Florida, 309 U.S. 227, 238-39 (1940).

The record as a whole strongly supports the trial court's finding that Houser's statement was voluntary. Houser requested to speak to police and reiterated during his pretrial testimony that he was willing to give a statement. This Court should affirm.

### **C. Harmless error.**

Even if the interview was erroneously admitted, Houser was not prejudiced. Michael Dennis's testimony identifying Houser as the first man to enter the home was exceedingly reliable because the two men were well-acquainted. Houser admitted he was present for the robbery during his first interview, the admission of which is not challenged on appeal. Furthermore, his statement was far from a

confession; it was not even inculpatory. While he changed his story to admit that it was his nephew and "little dude" who followed him into the home, he denied any knowledge of a plan to rob Patterson. The statement did little to change the case against Houser, and did not change the result of trial. See Arizona v. Fulminante, 499 U.S. 279, 303 (1991) (holding "admission of an 'involuntary' confession at trial is subject to harmless error analysis"); Id. at 313 (Kennedy, J., concurring) (explaining courts "must appreciate the indelible impact a full confession may have on the trier of fact, as distinguished, for instance, from the impact of an isolated statement that incriminates the defendant only when connected with other evidence"). Finally, the statement was mostly cumulative to his unchallenged August 28 statement, and the differences between the first and second statement are not inculpatory. Any error was harmless. This Court should affirm.

## CONCLUSION

For all the foregoing reasons, it is respectfully submitted that the judgment and conviction of the lower court be affirmed.